THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

DEC 19 2019

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas
Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-In-Equity

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2019-001894

H. Marshall Hoyler.Petitioner,

v.

The State of South Carolina, Merry Land Properties, LLC,
Sherbert Living Trust, Supan Living Trust, Elizabeth R. Levin,
Edward McCray Wise Revoc. Living Trust, Carol Ann Devries Wise Revoc. Living
Trust, Amelie Cromer, Philip Cromer, Robert Chiavello, Tocharoen Living Trust,
Helen M. Olesak, Lesley Anne Glick a/k/a Lesley Ann Glick, Shirley G.
Lackey, Patricia Banfield, Bertrand Cooper, Jr., NHP SH South Carolina I,

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court of Appeals was required to affirm the Master's findings when it was supported by evidence?
2. Whether the deed is construed strictly in favor of the State and against the grantee?
3. Whether the plat and deed provide sufficient guidance as to the location of the property?
4. Whether Petitioner has shown any special and important reason why his Petition should be granted?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State concurs in the Facts / Procedural History section of the Court of Appeals Opinion, and notes, in particular, the following:

In his complaint, Hoyler asserted the existence of an 1891 deed to his predecessor in title, J.M. Crofut, from former Governor Benjamin R. Tillman for 95.27 acres of marshland located on the Beaufort River. [R. V. I, p. 53.] The complaint also asserted that the deed was accompanied by a plat depicting a tract "bounded on the South by lands of Moss, on the West by miscellaneous individuals, on the North by Seal Island Chemical Works[,] and on the East by the Beaufort River." An heir of Crofut, Elizabeth Waterhouse, devised a share of her putative interest in the property to Hoyler in 1968, and in 1979, the remaining heirs conveyed their respective putative interests to Hoyler for \$10.

In its answer to the complaint, the State asserted that it held prima facie title to the disputed marsh in trust for the public and Hoyler lacked the power to exclude the public from the marsh. [R. v. I, p. 92]. Merry Land filed a motion to intervene in this action as well as an "Answer and Counterclaim" asserting that Hoyler was barred from preventing construction of the planned marina by the doctrines of estoppel and laches. [R. v. I, p. 57] On February 22, 2008, the master, with the consent of counsel for all parties, executed an order granting Merry Land's motion to intervene. [R. v. I, p. 1] [footnote omitted].

* * *

[T]he master conducted a hearing on November 19, 2015. The master allowed the record to stay open for 45 days after the hearing to allow Merry Land to obtain the deposition testimony of a surveyor who had worked with Merry Land's civil engineering expert. After the master reviewed this deposition testimony, he sent an e-mail to counsel for the

parties requesting a proposed order from counsel for Respondents. In response, Hoyler filed a motion challenging the findings in the master's e-mail pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. The master denied this motion in a Form 4 order.

On May 27, 2016, the master issued a written order concluding that the conveyance to Crofut was a valid exercise of the State's authority under the law as it existed at the time of the conveyance but the property could not be accurately located and, therefore, Hoyler was not entitled to a declaration that he held title to the disputed marsh. [R. v. 1, p. 15] On June 19, 2016, Hoyler filed a second Rule 59(e) motion in response to the written order, and the master denied this motion. [R. v. 1, p. 48] This appeal followed.

Hoyler v. State, 428 S.C. 279, 833 S.E.2d 845, 850-851 (Ct. App. 2019), reh'g denied (Oct. 17, 2019)

ARGUMENT

I

THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT IT WAS COMPELLED TO AFFIRM THE MASTER'S FINDINGS

The Court of Appeals was required to affirm the Master's findings if supported by any evidence as it was here. As set forth below, the Court of Appeals found that the deed was ambiguous as to the location of the property which then became a fact issue on which the Master's findings must be affirmed if supported by any evidence:

The plat's illegibility effectively made the deed ambiguous as to the precise location of the 95.27 acres in dispute. Therefore, the master properly considered extrinsic evidence. *See Santoro v. Schulthess*, 384 S.C. 250, 272, 681 S.E.2d 897, 908 (Ct. App. 2009) (“If this [c]ourt decides that the language in a deed is ambiguous, the determination of the grantor's intent then becomes a question of fact.”); *see also S.C. Dep't of Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville*, 345 S.C. 617, 623, 550 S.E.2d 299, 303 (2001) (applying rules of contract construction to a restrictive covenant in a deed); *id.* at 623, 550 S.E.2d at 302–03 (“A contract is ambiguous when the terms of the contract are reasonably susceptible of more than one interpretation. It is a question of law for the court whether the language of a contract is ambiguous. Once the court decides the language is ambiguous, evidence may be admitted to show the intent of the parties. The determination of the parties' intent is then a question of fact.” (emphasis added) (citations omitted))

* * *

We consider all of this evidence within the confines of a narrow scope of review, an obligation to defer to the fact finder's assessment of witness credibility, and longstanding precedent requiring construction of the State's purported conveyance of tidelands against the grantee. *Query*, 371 S.C. at 411, 639 S.E.2d at 456–57. . . .

We cannot ignore the testimony of Donald Cook and Jim Gardner supporting the master's finding that the deed to Crofut and the 1891 plat it incorporated were insufficient to convey title to a defined location of marsh bordering the Beaufort River. *See Blake*, 18 U.S. at 362 (“It is undoubtedly essential to the validity of a grant, that there should be a thing granted, which must be so described as to be capable of being distinguished from other things of the same kind.” (emphasis added)); *Brownlee*, 208 S.C. at 261, 37 S.E.2d at 662 (holding a deed will be sustained if “it is possible from the whole description, to ascertain and identify the land intended to be conveyed”); cf. *id.* (noting that the surveyors in that case had no trouble in locating the land).

Therefore, we are compelled to affirm the master's finding. *See Query*, 371 S.C. at 410, 639 S.E.2d at 456 (“In an action at law, ‘[the appellate court] will affirm the master's factual findings if there is any evidence in the record [that] reasonably supports them.’ ” (quoting *Lowcountry*, 347 S.C. at 101–02, 552 S.E.2d at 781)).

Hoyler, 833 S.E.2d at 855-857.

Petitioner confuses and misapplies these standards in arguing that the deed is unambiguous as to the intent to convey State marshland. That a deed purported to convey State marshland is undisputed. What is in dispute is whether the deed and plat are sufficient to convey identifiable marshland that can be located. As the Court of Appeals stated, “[n]ecessarily, the claimant must show that the language of the conveyance is specific enough to determine a reasonably precise location of its boundaries so that members of the public will not be excluded from property rightfully belonging to them.” 833 S.E.2d at 852. The deed and plat in the instant case are not “specific enough.” As quoted above, the Court of Appeals found that “[t]he plat's illegibility effectively made the deed ambiguous as to the precise location of the 95.27 acres in dispute” Accordingly, location was a fact issue as to which the Master's findings must be affirmed because they were supported by evidence.

II

THE DEED AND PLAT ARE CONSTRUED STRICTLY AGAINST THE GRANTEE AND IN FAVOR OF THE STATE

The public trust doctrine provides that lands below the high water mark are presumptively owned by the State and held in trust for the benefit of the public, and it has been a vital part of the jurisprudence of South Carolina and many other states for centuries, even pre-dating the beginning of our republic. [footnote omitted]

Because the law, as a zealous guardian of the public interest, bestows presumptive ownership of tidelands on the State for the benefit of the public, any deed from the State purporting to convey tidelands to a private individual must be strictly construed against the grantee and in favor of the public. [footnote omitted.]

For this reason, “the party asserting a transfer of title bears the burden of proving its own good title,” and one claiming an interest in tidelands pursuant to section 48-39-220(A) must convince the court that the State intended to include the tidelands within the boundaries expressed in the deed. [footnotes omitted]

Hoyler, 833 S.E.2d at 852. As quoted previously, “[n]ecessarily, the claimant must show that the language of the conveyance is specific enough to determine a reasonably precise location of its boundaries so that members of the public will not be excluded from property rightfully belonging to them.” *Id.* (footnote omitted)

The above standards are strict and were properly applied to the Petitioner’s claims. He failed to meet these standards, and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the decision of the Master.

III

THE PLAT AND DEED PROVIDE INSUFFICIENT GUIDANCE AS TO THE LOCATION OF THE PROPERTY

Petitioner errs in contending that the deed was sufficient in and of itself to convey marsh. The deed from the State is patently insufficient in stating only that it conveys 95.27 acres of land

between “high and low water” on the Beaufort River. R. v. II, p. 544. It contains no language whatsoever describing where the land is located on that river. Instead, the deed references the plat. As quoted by the Court of Appeals, “[w]here a deed describes land as it is shown on a certain plat, such plat becomes part of the deed for the purpose of showing the boundaries, metes, courses[,] and distances of the property conveyed.” *Hoyler*, 833 S.E.2d at 854 (Ct. App. 2019), reh'g denied (Oct. 17, 2019) quoting *Hobonny Club, Inc. v. McEachern*, 272 S.C. 392, 397, 252 S.E.2d 133, 136 (1979).”

The problem here is that the plat, as well as the deed, does not provide sufficient guidance as to the location of the property. Although Petitioner seems to argue at times that extrinsic evidence should not have been used, he offered his own expert and argues that the Court should have relied on him; however, as the Court of Appeals stated, “[t]he plat's illegibility effectively made the deed ambiguous as to the precise location of the 95.27 acres in dispute. Therefore, the master properly considered extrinsic evidence.” *Hoyler*, 833 S.E.2d at 855.

Petitioner contends that this Court should have placed the boundaries based upon natural boundaries in this case which he contends are the location of the current mean high water and mean low water lines. The problem with his argument is that the plat used “specific bearings and distances, some of which are illegible for the boundary lines” rather than mean high water. *Hoyler*, 833 S.E.2d at 855. “The master found that the deed's ‘express reference to the 1891 plat’ and the plat's specificity overrode the use of mean high water and mean low water to fix the location of Hoyler's property.” *Id.* at 856. The Court of Appeals noted that “[t]he master . . . concluded, ‘[s]ince the plat references a surveyed boundary, replication of the plat should, in the first instance, be based on the surveyed boundary instead of a natural boundary.’” 833 S.E.2d

at 856. The Court of Appeals properly “agree[d] with the master's assessment of [Petitioner’s expert’s] testimony as having negligible probative value because he did not use the plat's bearings and distances for all of the boundary lines—rather, he ‘relied on [the] mean high and mean low water mark[s] for the eastern and western boundaries[] and extrapolated the north-westerly property corner.’” *Hoyler*, 833 S.E.2d at 856.

The bearings and distances on the plat were also insufficient. That some of the bearings “are illegible for the boundary lines” (833 S.E.2d at 855) and the northern boundary is “sliding” (Order at R. v. I, p. 40) prevents the determination of the location of the property today. *See also*, Order at R. v. I, p. 20 (Based on Gardner testimony, “the southern boundary [is] ambiguous, as with the northern boundary.”). As stated by the Master:

Due to the shortcomings Mr. Gardner identified on the 1891 plat and the lack of bearings or distance to locate the bisecting line, Mr. Gardner was unable to mathematically close the survey and described the process of locating the northern boundary line as “forced closure” If a survey cannot be mathematically closed based on the calls it prevents the parcel from being locatable on the ground, or, in other words, leaves the parcel “kind of floating out there.”

R. v. I, p. 20. The southern boundary was also “ambiguous” *Id.* As the Master further stated:

While the Grant is a valid conveyance, in accordance with the precedent . . . regarding conveyance of public trust tidelands the Grant is strictly construed against the Grantee. Here the 1891 plat is part of the Grant by reference. In strictly construing the Grant, this Court cannot determine the location of the parcel which is the subject of the conveyance. This Court assigns weight to the testimony of two licensed surveyors who testified as Intervener's experts regarding their inability to locate the parcel depicted on the 1891 plat on the ground. This Court rejects Plaintiff s expert's attempt to locate the parcel based on different eastern and western boundaries than shown on the 1891 plat and a sliding northern boundary.

R. v. I, pp. 39 and 40. As noted above, the Court of Appeals stated that it could not “ignore the testimony of Donald Cook and Jim Gardner supporting the master's finding that the deed to

Crofut and the 1891 plat it incorporated were insufficient to convey title to a defined location of marsh bordering the Beaufort River.” *Hoyler*, 833 S.E.2d at 856. Therefore, the Court of Appeals was “compelled to affirm the master's finding” that “the 1891 plat it incorporated were insufficient to convey title to a defined location of marsh bordering the Beaufort River.” *Id.*, 833 S.E. 2d at 857.

IV

PETITIONER HAS NOT SHOWN SPECIAL AND IMPORTANT REASONS FOR GRANTING CERTIORARI

Under Rule 242, SCACR, this Court will grant a petition for certiorari “only where there are special and important reasons.” Rule 242, SCACR. Although Petitioner contends that the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with decisions of this Court, he misunderstands tidelands case law and its application to the deed and plat in this case. The Court of Appeals Opinion discussed years of tidelands opinions and carefully and properly applied that body of law to this case. The Opinion should be sustained.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court deny the Petition.