RECEIVED

DEC 27 2019

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-in-Equity
Appellate Case No. 2019-001894
Case No. 2007-CP-03212

H. Marshall Hoyler,.....Petitioner,

v.

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

Though an action to quiet title is generally equitable, *id.*, “[t]he determination of title to real property is a legal issue.”⁸ When an action concerns title to real property, the action is at law.⁹ Indeed, “[a]n action to determine ownership of tidelands pursuant to [S]ection 48-39-220 is an action at law.”¹⁰ A trial court’s factual findings will not be disturbed on appeal unless a review of the record discloses that there is *no* evidence which reasonably supports the [court’s] findings.”¹¹

Rule 242(b) of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules enumerates five reasons for which the Supreme Court may grant a writ of certiorari. Hoyler’s Petition presents six

⁸ Wigfall v. Fobbs, 295 S.C. 59, 60, 367 S.E.2d 156, 157 (1988) (internal citations omitted).

⁹ Query v. Burgess, 371 S.C. 407, 410, 639 S.E.2d 455, 456 (2006) (*quoting* Lowcountry Open Land Trust v. State, 347 S.C. 96, 101, 552 S.E.2d 778, 781).

¹⁰ Grant v. State, 395 S.C. 225, 228, 717 S.E.2d 96, 98 (Ct. App. 2011); Query v. Burgess, 371 S.C. 407, 410, 639 S.E.2d 455, 456 (2006).

¹¹ State ex rel. Lyon, Atty. Gen. v. Columbia Water Power Co., et al. 82 S.C. 181, 63 S.E.884 (1909), citing Grant v. State, 395 S.C. 225, 717 S.E.2d 96 (2011) (emphasis added).

questions for review, all relating to Hoyler's singular premise that the Court of Appeals' decision is in direct conflict with prior decisions of the South Carolina Supreme Court. In short, Hoyler has not asserted any consideration or reason other than that stated in SCACR 242(b)(3) as the basis for his request for review. Hoyler has failed to establish the existence of any conflict between long-standing precedent in South Carolina adjudicating marsh ownership and the decisions of the lower court and the Court of Appeals.

A. *There is No Conflict Between the Decision of the Lower Court and the Opinion of the Court of Appeals and Prior Decisions of this Court Regarding the State's Presumption of Title in Tidelands.*

Hoyler asserts the Court of Appeals misconstrued long-standing South Carolina law regarding the State's presumption of title in tidelands. As set forth in the Petition, Hoyler argues that due to a grant of the Disputed Marsh from the State, the State had a burden to show that it regained title to the tidelands.

Hoyler relies on State v. Evans.¹² Hoyler's reliance is misplaced. The issue in Evans was not the fact of a conveyance by the State, as Hoyler suggests, but rather, whether the transfer, made to the land commissioner as an individual, constituted a transfer to the State. As this Court emphasized "[i]n this case it will be observed that the plaintiff did not rest its claim upon its sovereignty, as in the cases of State v. Pacific Guano Co., 22 S.C. 50, and State v. Pinckney, *Id.* at 484, but, on the contrary, claimed as a purchaser the land which had been previously granted by the state. This being so, the state, like any other purchaser, was bound to establish its title before any recovery could

¹² State v. Evans, 33 S.C. 184, 11 S.E. 697 (1890).

be had.”¹³ The focus in Evans was on the State’s claim that it had regained title to the land at issue by purchase from the grantee to the land commissioner. The “real question” recognized in the case was whether the purchase by the land commission reinvested title in the State.¹⁴

Hoyler’s Petition provides no explanation or argument as to how the Court of Appeals erred in relying on State v. Pacific Guano Co.¹⁵ and cases following it, which addressed the State’s presumption of title in tidelands. State v. Pacific Guano Co. was specifically distinguished by the Court in Evans. As is noted by the Court of Appeals, South Carolina has long recognized and adopted the public trust doctrine with regard to tidal marsh. (*R. pp. 863-864*). This doctrine has been a vital part of the jurisprudence of South Carolina, as in many other states, for centuries, even pre-dating the beginning of “our republic.” (*R. p. 864*).¹⁶ “Historically, the State holds presumptive title to land below the high water mark. As stated by the Court in 1884, not only does the State hold title to this land in *jus privatum*, it holds it in *jus publicum*, in trust for the benefit of all citizens of this State.”¹⁷ When property is bounded by a tidal navigable waterway “the boundary line is the high water mark, in the absence of more specific language showing that it was

¹³ State v. Evans, 33 S.C. at 184, 11 S.E at 697.

¹⁴ State v. Evans, 33 S.C. at 184, 11 S.E at 698.

¹⁵ State v. Pacific Guano Co., 22 S.C. 50 (1884).

¹⁶ See FN 10, citing McQueen v S.C. Coastal Council, 354 S.C. 142, 149-50, 580 S.E.2d 116, 119-20; Grant, 395 S.C. at 230-231, 7171 S.E.2d at 99-100; Query, 371 S.C. at 410-11, 639 S.E.2d at 46; see also State v. Pacific Guano Co., 22 S.C. 50, 55-56 (1884); Commonwealth v. City of Roxbury, 75 Mass. 451, 478-79 (1857); Melissa K. Scanlan, *Shifting Stands: A Meta-Theory for Public Access and Private Property Along the Coast*, 65 S.C. L.Rev. 295, 307-13 (2014); William A. Clineburg and John E. Krahrmer, *The Law Pertaining to Estuarine Lands in South Carolina*, 23 S.C. L.Rev. 7, 10-24 (1971).

¹⁷ McQueen v. S.C. Coastal Council, 354 S.C. 142, 149, 580 S.E.2d 116, 119 (2003).

intended to go below the high water mark, and the portion between high and low water mark remains in the State in trust for the benefit of the public.”¹⁸ Following this precedent, the Court of Appeals correctly upheld the lower court's decision to consider the 1891 Plat as part of the Grant.¹⁹

B. There is No Conflict Between the Decision of the Lower Court and the Opinion of the Court of Appeals and Prior Decisions of this Court Regarding Interpretation of the Deed at Issue or Effectuating the Intent of the Grantor, Which Required Consideration of the 1891 Plat As A Component of the Grant.

Hoyler asserts, in summary, that the State clearly *intended* to convey marshland to him, and that this alone is sufficient to convey title to the property in question. This does not follow South Carolina precedent, which has established two requirements for proving ownership of tidelands or marshlands: (1) showing that the claimant's predecessors in title possessed a valid grant, and (2) that the grant's language was sufficient to convey title to land below the high water mark.²⁰ The substance of the Petition makes clear Hoyler's misunderstanding that ownership in this case may be

¹⁸ State v. Hardee, 259 S.C. 535, 539, 193 S.E.2d 497, 499 (1972).

¹⁹ In South Carolina, where a deed describes land as it is shown on a certain plat, such plat becomes part of the deed for the purpose of showing the boundaries, metes, courses and distances of the property conveyed. Hobonny Club, Inc. v. McEachern, 272 S.C. 392, 252 S.E.2d 133 (S.C.1979), *citing* Carolina Land Co., Inc. v. Bland, 265 S.C. 98, 217 S.E.2d 16 (1975); Lynch v. Lynch, 236 S.C. 612, 115 S.E.2d 301 (1960). Also, as set forth in Hobonny Club, Inc. v. McEachern, 272 S.C. 392, 252 S.E.2d 133 (S.C.1979): “[T]he area between the usual high water line and the usual low water line remains in the State, unless there is ‘... specific language, either in the deed or on the plat, showing that it was intended to go below high water mark ...’ State v. Hardee, 259 S.C. 535, 543, 193 S.E.2d 497, 500 (1972).

²⁰ Lowcountry, 347 S.C. at 103, 552 S.E.2d at 782.

determined solely upon interpretation of the deed at issue only, without reference to the plat specifically referenced therein.²¹

The Court of Appeals correctly upheld the lower court's decision denying Hoyler's action to quiet title, which was not based on interpretation of the grant contained in the deed alone, but also on interpretation of the 1891 Plat, wherein the lower court found uncertainty in the boundary of the grant due to ambiguity in the 1891 Plat:

While it is evident that the State, by way of Grant, intended to convey public trust tidelands, the location of those tidelands is dependent on the ability to recreate the contemporaneous plat. This Court recognizes that the land conveyed by the Grant lies in the vicinity of the area but ... cannot determine the specific location. (*R. p. 36, para. 41*).

This Court established the procedure to be followed in actions involving construction and effect of deeds long ago:

It is elementary that the cardinal rule of construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the parties, unless that intention contravenes some well settled rule of law or public policy. As we endeavored to point out in the very recent case of *Rogers v. Rogers*, 221 S.C. 360, 70 S.E.2d 637, 640, 'There is a growing tendency among the court to apply, *not merely to affirm preliminarily,*' this salutary principle. Also, see *Glasgow v. Glasgow*, 221 S.C. 322, 70 S.E.2d 432. I shall approach the question before us, as was done in the Rogers case involving the construction of a will, by **first undertaking to ascertain the intention of the parties** 'unobscured by the fault of technical learning,' and without reference to the subtle and arbitrary distinctions and niceties of the feudal common law. **After doing so, we can then ascertain whether there**

²¹ See Petition, p. 11 (emphasis added); Hoyler's reference is to the State Grant dated July 28, 1891, in which the State of South Carolina ed property to Mr. James M. Crofut ("the 1891 Grant"). The 1891 Grant included reference to a plat dated April 19, 1882 ("the 1882 Plat"). There is a later plat, dated 1891 and contemporaneous with the 1891 Grant, that was recorded with the 1891 Grant in the Beaufort County Register of Deeds. (*R. pp. 261, l. 3-p. 262, l. 7*).

are any rules of law or public policy requiring a different conclusion.²²

“When a deed describes land as shown on a certain plat, such plat becomes part of the deed for the purpose of showing the boundaries, metes, courses and distances of the property conveyed.”²³ “In the instant case, a reading of the Deed as a whole reveals the parties used the Plat as a reference to the boundaries, metes, courses and distances of the property conveyed. ... The intention of the parties in incorporating the Plat, when discerned from the Deed as a whole, was to show the boundaries, metes, courses and distances of the property conveyed. ...”²⁴

Accordingly, in this case, the lower court and the Court of Appeals appropriately considered applicable South Carolina law when the 1891 Plat was identified as part of the deed that, therefore, required consideration. It would contravene South Carolina law to disregard it. Moreover, it was appropriate to require a sufficiently full and definite description which identified the property to be conveyed, in order to find a valid conveyance of public trust tidelands. Due to the State’s presumption of ownership, any deed from the State purporting to convey tidelands to a private individual must be strictly

²² Davis v. Davis, 223 S.C. 182, 184-85, 75 S.E.2d 46, 47 (1953) (italicized in original, bold emphasis added).

²³ Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co., 370 S.C. 578, 590, 635 S.E.2d 649, 657 (citing Hobonny Club, Inc. v. McEachern, 272 S.C. 392, 397, 252 S.E.2d 133, 136 (1979); Carolina Land Co., Inc. v. Bland, 265 S.C. 98, 105, 217 S.E.2d 16, 19 (1975); Holly Hill Lumber Co. v. Grooms, 198 S.C. 118, 135, 16 S.E.2d 816, 832 (1941) (“ ‘As a general rule, when maps, plats, or field notes are referred to in a grant or conveyance they are to be regarded as incorporated into the instrument and are usually held to furnish the true description of the boundaries of the land ...’ ”)).

²⁴ Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co., 370 S.C. 578, 595, 635 S.E.2d 649, 658 (Ct.App.2006).

construed against the grantee and in favor of the public. (*R. pp. 863-864*).²⁵ Regarding this point, it has been clarified that *the claimant must show the language of the conveyance to be specific enough to determine a reasonably precise location of its boundaries* so that members of the public will not be excluded from property rightfully belonging to them. (*R. p. 865*).²⁶ To require otherwise would have directly contravened well-settled rules governing alienation of the public trust.

The case relied upon by Hoyler does not involve a plat referenced by a deed nor does the case address interpretation of a plat.²⁷ Hoyler cited no authority to refute the long-standing rule that plats referenced by deeds are a part of the deed, or the precedent for the rule discussed thoroughly in the Opinion of the Court of Appeals. Finally, Hoyler failed to note that Gardner v. Mozingo actually *supports* that the 1891 Plat must be considered to determine the grantor's intent in saying "...the deed must be construed as *a whole and effect given to every part if it can be done consistently with the law.*"²⁸

In considering an action filed pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-220, this Court is guided by the principles of common law established in long-standing precedent. "Land lying between the usual high water mark and the usual low water mark on a navigable

²⁵ See FN 11, citing Query, 371 S.C. at 411, 639 S.C.2d at 456-57; accord Estate of Tenney, 393 S.C. at 106, 712 S.E.2d at 398 ("In areas subject to the public trust doctrine, presumption of State ownership 'may be overcome only by a showing of specific grant for the sovereign[,] which is strictly construed against the grantee.'" (quoting McQueen, 354 S.C. at 149 n.6, 580 S.E.2d at 119 n.6)); Grant, 395 S.C. at 229, 717 S.E.2d at 98.

²⁶ See FN 14, citing Hobonny Club, 272 S.C. at 398, 252 S.E.2d at 136-37; Grant, 395 S.C. at 235-36, 717 S.E.2d at 102 (noting that the lower court contrasted the plat to the disputed property with the precise plats in Hobonny Club and highlighting expert testimony stating that the plat was "poorly drawn and not capable of being relocated on the ground.") Query, 371 S.C. at 411-12, 639 S.E.2d at 456-57 (emphasis added).

²⁷ Gardner v. Mozingo, 293 S.C. 23, 358 S.E.2d 390 (1987).

²⁸ Gardner v. Mozingo, 293 S.C. at 25, 358 S.E.2d 390-391.

watercourse enjoys a unique status since it is held by the State in trust for public purposes. One asserting title to this land must prove a specific grant from the sovereign which is strictly construed against the grantee.”²⁹ “Title to land between the high and low water marks remains in the State and is held in trust for the benefit of the public.”³⁰ “Despite the special status accorded tidelands, the government, and specifically the King of England, had the power to grant, and did in fact grant, tidelands to subjects, who exercised private ownership.”³¹ “A grant of tidelands by the State or a predecessor sovereign is construed strictly in favor of the State and the general public against the grantee.”³²

Additionally, as relates to an assertion of private ownership of navigable tributaries, South Carolina courts are bound to follow established legal principles set forth in State ex rel. Lyon, Atty. Gen. v. Columbia Water Power Co., et al., 82 S.C. 181, 63 S.E. 884 (1909). “Navigable water is a public highway which the public is entitled to use for the purposes of travel either for business or pleasure. ... The public is entitled to the free, uninterrupted, and unobstructed use of every part of the stream from bank to bank and throughout the length of the channel, which at the ordinary stage of the water is of such depth and of such accessibility with respect to the current or main body of the stream as to be capable of navigation by boats, or of valuable floatage in connection with the main body of the stream, either up and down or across, or from the main stream on to any particular part in question, or thence on to the body of the stream and this whether such

²⁹ Hobonny Club, Inc. v. McEachern, 272 S.C. 392, 252 S.E.2d 133 (1979).

³⁰ State v. Hardee, 259 S.C. 535, 539, 193 S.E.2d 497, 499 (1972).

³¹ State v. Holston Land Co., 272 S.C. 65, 68, 248 S.E.2d 922, 924 (1978).

³² Grant v. State, 395 S.C. 225, 717 S.E.2d 96, 98 (2011).

part has never been used, and whether there is any present or anticipated necessity for using it.”³³ In accordance with S. C. Code Ann. § 49-1-10, “All streams which have been rendered or can be rendered capable of being navigated by rafts of lumber or timber by the removal of all accidental obstructions and all navigable water courses and cuts are hereby declared navigable streams and such streams shall be common highways and forever free, as well to the inhabitants of this State as to citizens of the United States, without any tax or impost therefor, unless such tax or impost be expressly provided for by the General Assembly.”

Hoyler has not demonstrated valid reasoning or justification for this precedent to be ignored. Further, had Hoyler invoked the procedure outlined in S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-220 at any point after 1979, when he acquired interest in the Disputed Marsh, both DHEC and the South Carolina Attorney General’s office would have had a record of his ownership claim. Hoyler failed to do so, however, choosing to sleep on those rights until Merry Land contacted him regarding the Disputed Marsh. (*R. pp. 431, l. 20–p. 433, l. 20*). Before 2007, Merry Land had no way to know of Hoyler’s ownership claim over the Disputed Marsh even though Merry Land had conducted extensive due diligence before purchasing the adjoining upland tracts. In fact, four of the upland property owners who adjoin the Disputed Marsh requested and received permits from the State of South Carolina and other entities to build docks over and through the Disputed Marsh. At least two of these docks existed in 2007. (*R. pp. 420, l. 20–p. 421, l. 2; R. pp. 653, 657*).

Similarly, no indication of private ownership of the Disputed Marsh was revealed during a title review performed by an experienced real estate attorney who reviewed the

³³ Quoting from 1 Farnham on Waters, 130.

available tax records, tax maps, deeds, and Beaufort County's GIS records. (R. pp. 438-457). In addition, Merry Land used a professional engineering firm and licensed professional surveyors to provide an ALTA survey and boundary surveys. None of these professionals discovered any information and/or documentation to indicate a competing claim of ownership to the Disputed Marsh. In fact, all documents of record reviewed described the Disputed Marsh as "marshes of the Beaufort River" or simply "marsh". (R. pp. 300-338; R. pp. 649-679).

C. There is No Conflict Between the Decision of the Lower Court and the Opinion of the Court of Appeals and Prior Decisions of this Court Regarding Resolution of Latent Ambiguities in a Deed.

Here, again, Hoyler asserts the lower court and Court of Appeals inappropriately interpreted the deed and Grant at issue by giving due consideration to the 1891 Plat. Although Hoyler repeatedly restates a position that this was improper, he fails to justify his position or reference any legal authority to demonstrate why long-standing precedent, which clearly establishes the Plat at issue in this case to be part of the Grant, should be disregarded.

Hoyler further asserts that the lower court should not have admitted the testimony of Merry Land's surveyors because it "tended to create" an ambiguity that was absent upon consideration of the deed alone.³⁴ At the hearing, the first surveyor, Donald Cook, was presented by Merry Land as an expert witness in land surveying. Mr. Cook testified as to certain deficiencies in the both the 1882 Plat and the 1891 Plat which accompanied or were referenced in the land grant. Mr. Cook noted the absence of both a "scale" and of a "point of beginning" or "point of commencement" as "two main deficiencies." (R. p.

³⁴ See Petition, p. 16.

471, l. 14-17). These deficiencies materially impacted Mr. Cook's ability to replicate the parcel reflected in those two plats. (*R. p. 471*). According to Mr. Cook:

[W]ithout a point of beginning you have no part – no point to start to locate the parcel on the ground. Without a scale you can't, you know, tell if they were – what measurement of units they were using. So, therefore, scaling it, you don't know really how big the parcel is or potentially how big it is. (*R. p. 472, l. 2-8*).

Merry Land then presented deposition testimony³⁵ of a second surveyor, Jim Gardner, the surveyor who initially analyzed the 1891 Plat and earlier plat at Merry Land's request.³⁶ Mr. Gardner indicated multiple areas of uncertainty and ambiguity on the 1891 Plat which impaired the ability to re-create the marsh parcel.

Hoyler misconstrues the evidence in the record for this case. Contrary to Hoyler's assertions, Merry Land's surveyors only *explained* ambiguities they perceived upon examination of the 1891 Plat. The surveyors did not "create" any ambiguities but rather, identified them. Hoyler's Petition fails to specify how anything was "created" by this testimony. He resorts to attacking admission of the testimony as cover for his lack of any rational explanation to justify disregarding the ambiguities themselves. This is clearly nothing more than an attempt at an end around Hoyler's actual problem – that the 1891

³⁵ With the Master-in-Equity's permission, Mr. Gardner's deposition was taken after the hearing and then presented for consideration.

³⁶ Mr. Gardner was questioned regarding his qualifications and Appellant's counsel had no objection to Mr. Gardner testifying as an expert. (*R. p. 532 (page 4), l. 8-page 8, l. 5*). Mr. Gardner described the earlier plat as the source of the 1891 Plat, which he believed to be a copy. (*R. p. 534 (page 11), l. 23-page 12, l. 4*).

Plat was properly considered part of the Grant by the lower courts in accordance with established South Carolina precedent.

As the Court of Appeals noted, “[t]he plat’s illegibility effectively made the deed ambiguous as to the precise location of the 95.27 acres in dispute. Therefore, the Master properly considered extrinsic evidence.” (*R. p. 869*). As has been discussed herein, the lower court properly considered the plat in this case because it was specifically referenced in the grant at issue and, therefore, under South Carolina law, became part of the deed. In other words, while the grant stated in the deed reflected the intent to convey, the 1891 Plat it referenced “effectively made the deed ambiguous,” as the Appellate Court noted. (*R. p. 869*).

Hoyler failed to accurately quote applicable precedent which, when fully reproduced, easily distinguishes this case on its facts:

“Where the description on a deed can be related to the land, parole [sic] evidence is inadmissible since extrinsic evidence is to be admitted to resolve ambiguities, not create them. ... *In the instant case the description can be applied to the land with no discrepancies or inconsistencies. There is no ambiguity, patent or latent, in the instant deeds so that the description contained therein is to be taken as conclusive evidence of the intention of the parties.*”³⁷

Here, there was an ambiguity identified within the deed. Once the deed was determined to be ambiguous based on the deficiencies of the incorporated plat, it was proper for the lower court to consider extrinsic evidence to determine the grantor’s intent, which is a question of fact. (*R. p. 869*).

D. ***There is No Conflict Between the Decision of the Lower Court and the Opinion of the Court of Appeals and the Use of Metes and Bounds Over***

³⁷ Kirven v. Bartell, 266 S.C. 385, 389, 223 S.E.2d 597, 599 (1976) (emphasis added).

Natural Monuments to Determine the Parcel Boundaries and Prior Decisions of this Court.

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